**Dinas a Sir Abertawe** 



Hysbysiad o Gyfarfod

Fe'ch gwahoddir i gyfarfod

## Pwyllgor Trawsnewid Gwasanaethau Newid yn yr Hinsawdd ac Adfer Natur

- Lleoliad: Cyfarfod Aml-Leoliad Ystafell Lilian Hopkin, Neuadd y Ddinas / MS Teams
- Dyddiad: Dydd Llun, 15 Ebrill 2024
- Amser: 3.00 pm
- Cadeirydd: Y Cynghorydd Rebecca Fogarty

## Aelodaeth:

1

Cynghorwyr: M Baker, O G James, S E Keeton, H Lawson, A J O'Connor, D Phillips a/ac S J Rice

Gwylio ar-lein: http://tiny.cc/CCNR154

Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.

## Agenda

Rhif y Dudalen.

20

- 2 Derbyn datgeliadau o fuddiannau personol a rhagfarnol. www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeluCysylltiadau
- 3 Cofnodion: Cymeradwyo a llofnodi, fel cofnod cywir, gofnodion y cyfarfod(ydd) blaenorol.
   4 Strategaeth Gwastraff yn y Dyfodol.
   4 - 10
- 5 Adroddiad Blynyddol y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd ac Adfer Natur 11 19 2023-2024.
- 6 Cynllun Gwaith

luw Em

Huw Evans Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 9 Ebrill 2024 Cyswllt: Gwasanaethau Democrataidd - (01792) 636923

## Agenda Item 3



## **City and County of Swansea**

## Minutes of the Climate Change & Nature Recovery Service Transformation Committee

Multi-Location Meeting - Gloucester Room, Guildhall / MS Teams

Monday, 4 March 2024 at 3.00 pm

Present:	Councillor	R Fogarty (Chair) Presided	
<b>Councillor(s)</b> M Baker S E Keeton		<b>Councillor(s)</b> O G James	<b>Councillor(s)</b> H Lawson
Also Present: Councillor D H Hopkins Deputy Leader / Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and Performance		ember for Corporate	
Officer(s) Geoff Bacon Mark Barber Deb Hill Rachel Lewis Paul Meller Kieran O'Carro Jeremy Parkho Jane Richmon Mark Wade	ouse	Head of Property Services Biodiversity Natural Environment Officer / Local Nature Partnership (LNP) Co-ordinator Nature Conservation Team Leader Project Manager Natural Environment Section Manager Associate Lawyer Democratic Services Officer Project Manager Strategic Climate Change Director of Place	

## **Apologies for Absence**

Councillor(s): D Phillips and A H Stevens

## 29 Disclosures of Personal & Prejudicial Interests.

In accordance with the Code of Conduct adopted by the City & County of Swansea, no interests were declared.

## 30 Minutes:

**Resolved** that the Minutes of the Climate Change and Nature Recovery Service Transformation Committee held on 11 December 2023 be approved and signed as a correct record.

## 31 Section 6 Biodiversity Duty Action Plan for Swansea.

Councillor D H Hopkins, Deputy Leader / Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and Performance introduced the report, which was scheduled to be reported to Council on 21 March 2024 and was a Corporate Priority for the Authority.

Paul Meller, Natural Environment Section Manager presented a report which sought approval of the draft Section 6 Biodiversity Duty Action Plan for Swansea. (2023-2025).

It was explained that the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 (Part 1) Section 6 Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty which required that: 'A public authority must seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of functions in relation to Wales, and in so doing promote the resilience of ecosystems, so far as consistent with the proper exercise of those functions'.

Swansea Council had a legal duty to report to the Welsh Government every 3 years outlining actions undertaken to comply with the Statutory Biodiversity Duty.

The draft Section 6 action plan at Appendix A provided the actions the Council proposed to take between now and December 2025 to meet its obligations under its Biodiversity Duty to maintain and enhance biodiversity and contribute to the Welsh Governments 30x 30 targets for nature recovery.

The actions set out under the six key objectives of the Nature Recovery Action Plan for Wales Nature Recovery Action Plan (NRAP) for Wales and the Swansea Local Nature Recovery Action Plan were provided.

Mark Barber, Biodiversity Officer noted that the ongoing actions were dependent upon staff resources and Welsh Government funding, which would currently be provided up to 2025.

The Committee discussed the following: -

- The need to include working with schools to support the delivery of biodiversity and green infrastructure enhancements within school grounds.
- Making Community and Town Councils aware of the report. It was noted that a presentation was being made to the Community and Town Councils Forum on 4 March 2024 and that it was the responsibility of each council to formulate its own plan.
- The Council's legal responsibilities in respect of water, soil and air pollution, how it collaborates with other organisations, e.g. Natural Resources Wales (NRW) and how including issues within the plan would hopefully provide more funding towards tackling pollution.
- The positive inclusion of active travel within the plan.
- Providing a more detailed plan linking all the broad actions together which will include contributing to Welsh Government's 30x 30 biodiversity targets.
- The key importance of nature recovery.

- The importance of its inclusion within the Corporate Plan and collaboration going forward.
- Changing legislation being introduced to strengthen biodiversity regarding the planning process.
- The importance of sustainable drainage.
- The changes being introduced within the replacement Local Development Plan.

## Resolved that: -

- 1) The Draft Section 6 Biodiversity Duty Action Plan for Swansea Council be approved and forwarded to Council for adoption.
- 2) Adding working with schools to support the delivery of biodiversity and green infrastructure enhancements within school grounds be added to the Plan being reported to Council.

## 32 Work Plan.

The Chair presented an updated Work Plan report.

She noted that the Public EV Charging Strategy remained as an outstanding item and would confirm if Scrutiny were looking at the topic.

**Resolved** that the contents of the report be noted.

The meeting ended at 3.32 pm

Chair

## Agenda Item 4



## **Report of the Director of Place**

## Climate Change & Nature Recovery Service Transformation Committee – 15 April 2024

## **Future Waste Strategy**

Purpose:	To seek the opinion(s) of the Committee on kerbside collections.	
Policy Framework:	Climate Change & Nature Recovery Strategy.	
Consultation:	Access to Services, Finance, Legal.	
Recommendation(s):	It is recommended that: -	
1. The Committee gives their views on the potential for continuing with seasonal		

- The Committee gives their views on the potential for continuing with seasonal garden waste collections.
   The Committee gives their views on the potential for trialling the collection of
- 2. The Committee gives their views on the potential for trialling the collection of additional materials at the kerbside.
- 3. The Committee notes the latest position with the use of Reusable Containers.

Report Author:	Chris Howell
Finance Officer:	Ben Smith
Legal Officer:	Debbie Smith
Access to Services Officer:	Rhian Millar

## 1. Background

- 1.1 The Council adopted the 2022-25 Waste Strategy (**the Current Strategy**) in January 2022. The Current Strategy outlined the actions required to achieve WG's 70% statutory recycling rate by 2024/25.
- 1.2 The Current Strategy indicated that domestic waste would be collected from the kerbside primarily using diesel powered twin pack collection vehicles, with narrow access areas collected using transit tippers. Each household would receive the following collections, all wastes collected once a fortnight apart from food waste which would be collected every week.

	Week 1	Week 2
RCV 1	Residual waste (3no Black Bags limit)	Cans & Glass / Paper & Card
RCV 2	Plastic / Food waste	Garden waste / Food waste

- 1.3 The Current Strategy gave foresight of anticipated changes in legislation, including WG's indication that they intend to legislate for increases in their statutory recycling rate. WG have indicated<sup>1</sup> that they intend to aim for a 100% statutory recycling rate by 2050, with interim targets leading up to that date. The first new interim target is potentially within the timeframe of the Council's next waste strategy.
- 1.4 WG have also indicated that their next legislation or collections blueprint could mandate/recommend the collection of additional recycling streams at the kerbside; namely: plastic film, textiles and cartons.
- 1.5 All service improvement actions contained in the Current Strategy have been implemented. This has meant that the Council achieved a recycling rate of over 70% in 2022/23, two years earlier than required by legislation. In addition to achieving a high level of recycling, the most recent WLGA financial benchmarking from 2021/22 shows that the Council provides the most cost-effective waste management service in Wales (i.e. the lowest net cost per household).

## 2. Report

- 2.1 The Waste Management service is exploring how a future waste strategy could be developed to ensure the Council continues to deliver a highly effective and cost-efficient service and also deliver further carbon reductions.
- 2.2 It is expected that carbon reductions could mainly be delivered by reductions in residual waste through increased recycling, changes to the power source and/or deployment of collection vehicles, and reductions in the use of plastic recycling bags.
- 2.3 Reductions in residual waste would be achieved by diverting more waste from thermal treatment (energy from waste) into re-use or recycling through an expansion of the number of recycling streams collected at the kerbside.
- 2.4 The kerbside collection of additional recycling materials, such as plastic film, cartons, and textiles could be trialled to assess for quantities, quality, recycling markets, and sustainability. This approach is in line with WG's indicated strategy and has the benefit of increasing recycling rates whilst not reducing the overall amount of material a resident is able place at the kerbside.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>beyond-recycling-strategy-document.pdf (gov.wales)</u>

- 2.5 Vehicle emissions could potentially be reduced by:
  - Introducing seasonal garden collections which would lower the mileage travelled.
  - Considering switching to alternative low emissions vehicles (e.g. electric or hydrogen). These low emissions vehicles are still relatively early in their development, and further information can be brought to the Committee as these areas mature.
- 2.6 Only 5% of garden waste is collected through December and January, so consideration could be given to trialling the stopping of garden waste collections for these months to free up resource to assist in the collection of other waste stream, particularly the increased waste produced over Christmas, thereby improving the level of service whilst reducing the overall mileage travelled.
- 2.7 The Committee has previously considered the potential to reduce the volume of single use recycling bags by switching to reusable containers and has asked for further information to be brought back.
- 2.8 The Committee asked the service area to investigate the feasibility of lidded caddies being provided for glass and cans collections. The service area has been able to find lidded caddies and will now need to work through finalising the design by considering input from the Collection Crews and operational risk assessments.
- 2.9 The Committee also asked the service area to investigate the potential for a solid box or caddy to be provided for paper and card collections. Investigations are still ongoing as a suitable box or caddy does not currently exist on the market. The service area will continue the investigation prior to finalising the design of the box/caddy/hessian sack by considering input from the Collection Crews and operational risk assessments.

## 3. Integrated Assessment Implications

- 3.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to:
  - Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Acts.
  - Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.
  - Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.
  - Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socioeconomic disadvantage
  - Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language
  - Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English.

- Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.
- 3.1.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving the 'well-being goals'.
- 3.1.2 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid due regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and priorities, such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, carers, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and Welsh language.
- 3.2 An IIA Screening Form has been completed with the agreed outcome that a full IIA report was not required. The IIA screening form is attached as **Appendix A**, with the outcome of the screening below:
  - This is a low risk proposal which is likely to be seen as mostly positive change by the majority of the public. The proposal can adapt to the minority of the public that could potentially be negatively impacted by a "standard" service.

## 4. Financial Implications

- 4.1 It is considered that a reduction in residual waste through collecting additional recycling streams should provide a cost reduction, dependent upon Welsh Government funding for infrastructure changes.
- 4.2 Reduced vehicle usage through the freeing up of resources from garden waste collections through December and January should result in modest reductions in fuel usage.
- 4.3 It is considered that the introduction of reusable containers to replace single use bags, on main rounds, for paper & card and glass & cans could be achieved on a cost neutral basis, or a slight cost reduction, if Welsh Government funding can be secured for the initial purchase of the containers.

## 5. Legal Implications

5.1 The Council will need to ensure that future waste strategies are flexible enough to meet anticipated changes to WG statutory recycling targets and other new legislation.

Background Papers: Waste Strategy 2022-25.

**Appendices:** Appendix A – IIA Screening.

## Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix A

## Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.

## Which service area and directorate are you from?

Service Area: Waste, Parks and Cleansing **Directorate: Place** 

## Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance?

- New and revised policies, practices or procedures
- $\boxtimes$ Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service users and/or staff
  - Efficiency or saving proposals
  - Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning
- $\times$ New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location Large Scale Public Events
  - Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation
  - Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services Board, which impact on a public bodies functions
  - Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and improvement plans)
    - Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language strategy) Major procurement and commissioning decisions
      - Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh language opportunities and services

#### Please name and fully describe initiative here: (b)

### Carbon reduction considerations in future waste strategies

A briefing note is being submitted to the Climate Change and Nature Recovery STC to consider their views on how future waste strategies can be developed which aim to deliver increased carbon savings.

The briefing note suggests that further carbon savings can be achieved by reductions in residual waste which in turn leads to higher recycling rates. These reductions can be aided by an increase in the range of recyclable waste streams collected at the kerbside. Any changes would be in line with WG strategy documents which outline anticipated future changes to kerbside collections.

Further carbon savings may also be achieved by a timely switch to low emissions collection vehicles as and when the new technology proves robust and feasible.

#### **Q2** What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive (+) or negative (-)

	High Impact	Medium Impact	Low Impact	Needs further investigation
	+ -	+ -	+ -	
Children/young people (0-18)			$\boxtimes \square$	
Older people (50+)				$\square$
Any other age group				$\square$
Future Generations (yet to be bo	orn)		$\boxtimes \square$	
Disability			$\boxtimes \square$	
Race (including refugees)			$\boxtimes \square$	
Asylum seekers			$\boxtimes$	
Gypsies & travellers			$\boxtimes$	
Religion or (non-)belief			$\boxtimes$	
Sex			$\boxtimes$	
Sexual Orientation		Page 8	$\square$	

## Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix A

Gender reassignment Welsh Language		
Poverty/social exclusion Carers (inc. young carers) Community cohesion		
Marriage & civil partnership Pregnancy and maternity		

#### **Q**3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches? Please provide details below - either of your activities or your reasons for not undertaking involvement

Engagement has been undertaken with the Waste Leadership Team. Engagement will also be run with focus groups from the Waste Collections workforce. Engagement will also be undertaken with the Trade Unions, STC and elected Members prior to considering whether public consultation is appropriate.

#### Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the development of this initiative:

a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan's Well-being Objectives when considered together? Yes 🖂

No	
----	--

- b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals? Yes 🖂 No
- c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? Yes 🖂 No
- d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs? Yes 🖂 No

What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts - equality, Q5 socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public perception etc...)



Waste is a potentially emotive issue, therefore any scheme could potentially attract public criticism. While a potential restriction of residual waste would be negatively received by some of the public, the majority would be expected to be in favour, particularly if coupled with an increase in the range of recyclables collected at the kerbside. A timely switch to low emission vehicles is expected to be viewed as overwhelmingly positive.

#### Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service? Q6 X Yes No If yes, please provide details below

The central transport team will need re-training to ensure they have suitable skills to repair and maintain a fleet of low emission vehicles rather than diesel vehicles. As other parts of the fleet are already in the process of transitioning to low emission it is expected that the main issue will beating in the than the desire to change.

## Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix A

# Q7 What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?

(You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this proposal will affect certain groups/ communities more adversely because of other decisions the organisation is making. For example, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, e.g., disabled people, older people, single parents (who are mainly women), etc.)

Carbon reduction changes are likely to be broadly acceptable for the vast majority of the public, though there will be impact on some groups that may struggle to manage a further restriction on residual waste. These issues can be mitigated by applying existing exemption policies for the current residual restrictions.

The service is also mindful that a one-size-fits-all approach will not be suitable for re-usable containers. Similarly to the existing small version of the re-usable pink bag used for plastic, the service expects to discuss the design of small versions of the glass/cans and paper/card containers with suitable focus groups.

## **Outcome of Screening**

- Q8 Please describe the outcome of your screening below:
  - Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2)
  - Summary of involvement (Q3)
  - WFG considerations (Q4)
  - Any risks identified (Q5)
  - Cumulative impact (Q7)

This is a low risk proposal which is likely to be seen as mostly positive change by the majority of the public. The proposal can adapt to the minority of the public that could potentially be negatively impacted by a "standard" service.

(NB: This summary paragraph should be used in the relevant section of corporate report)

Full IIA to be completed

Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this outcome

NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before obtaining approval from your Head of Service. Head of Service approval is only required via email.

Screening completed by:
Name: Matt Perkins
Job title: Group Manager Waste
Date: 11 <sup>th</sup> August 2023
Approval by Head of Service:
Approval by Head of Service: Name: Chris Howell

## Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk

## Agenda Item 5



## Report of the Chair of Climate Change and Nature Recovery Service Transformation Committee – Councillor Rebecca Fogarty

## Climate Change & Nature Recovery Service Transformation Committee - 15 April 2024

## Climate Change and Nature Recovery Corporate Service Transformation Committee Annual Report 2023-2024

Purpose:	To summarise the progress made in relation to the work programme for 2023/2024.
Report Author:	Rachel Lewis
Finance Officer:	Ben Smith
Legal Officer:	Debbie Smith
Access to Services Officer:	Rhian Millar
For Information	

## 1. Introduction

This report sets out the progress made on the work programme of the Climate Change & Nature Recovery Service Transformation Committee during the 2023/2024 municipal year.

## 2. Work Programme 2023/2024

The work of the Committee over the course of the municipal year 2023-24 focused on key aspects of Swansea Council's approach to achieving net zero by 2030, covering many strands of the 'Delivering on Nature Recovery and Climate Change' Corporate Wellbeing Objective.

The three key areas of focus were:

- Nature Recovery
- Sustainable Transport
- Waste

Swansea Council's NZ2030 work is in the context of our support role in the wider Swansea 2050 agenda. The committee also received a presentation from City Science on the work currently underway on the production of a Local Area Energy Plan for Swansea.

Date of meeting	Agenda items
5 June 2023	Work Plan 2023-24 Discussion
17 July 2023	<ul> <li>Local Nature Recovery Action Plan (LNRAP) overview presentation</li> <li>Transport for Wales presentation</li> <li>Waste Pilot</li> </ul>
4 September 2023	<ul> <li>LNRAP – Report endorsement</li> <li>Waste Strategy – collections, Circular Economy elements</li> </ul>
16 October 2023	Sustainable Transport Strategy
11 December 2023	Swansea 2050 and Local Area Energy Plan
22 January 2024	Sustainable Transport Strategy – next steps
4 March 2024	• Section 6 Biodiversity Action Plan (Including GI and Tree cover)
15 April 2024	Waste Strategy – Collections update

## 3. Nature Recovery

## Local Nature Recovery Action Plan for Wales

In July 2023, Deb Hill, Nature Conservation Team Leader and Christina Derrick, Local Nature Partnership Co-ordinator presented an overview of the draft Local Nature Recovery Action Plan (LNRAP) for Swansea. Local Nature Recovery Action Plans are non-statutory partnership plans produced by Local Nature Partnerships (LNP) in the relevant Local Authority or National Park in Wales. LNRAPs are aligned with and informed by Welsh national biodiversity policy, which is the Nature Recovery Plan (NRAP).

The NRAP for Wales is the National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan for Wales and sets out how the United Nations Environment Programme's Convention on Biological Diversity's (CBD) Strategic Plan for Biodiversity (and the associated Aichi Biodiversity Targets for 2011-20 in Wales) is addressed in Wales.

The presentation received by Committee was to raise awareness of the background to the Plan, its purpose and the four content areas: 1) contextsetting; 2) action themes; 3) detailed information on nature in Swansea, including priority habitat overviews, priority species audient and species and sites special to Swansea; and 4) resources for public use to raise awareness and give ideas for how everyone can contribute to nature recovery. The Committee then held an informal workshop for members to discuss the detail of the Plan further before the report was brought back to the meeting in September 2023 for endorsement. Comments received during the workshop were used to revise the plan during its final redraft. In particular, the concept of being 'nature positive' was discussed and a definition included in the plan to the effect:

Nature Positive as defined in the Nature Positive 2030 report means reversing the current declines in biodiversity, so that species and ecosystems begin to recover. This is an essential step to achieve nature recovery. Thus, making nature positive decisions means you actively consider your impact on biodiversity and take steps to support recovery.

The Committee also noted the value of the engaging style and format of the Plan and were supportive of using the public resources within Swansea Council communications to raise awareness of how everyone can contribute to nature recovery.

In considering the final draft of the Plan for endorsement in September 2023, the Committee discussed river pollution, 'run off' into rivers and the reassurances provided within the Local Development Plan (LDP), as well as partnership working with Natural Resources Wales (NRW).

The Committee resolved that: -

1) The Climate and Nature Recovery Service Transformation Committee (STC) note the importance of the Swansea Local Nature Recovery Action Plan (LNRAP) as an overarching partnership framework to deliver on Nature Recovery.

2) The STC endorse the draft LNRAP prior to it being forwarded to Council for approval.

The LNRAP was approved by Cabinet on 19<sup>th</sup> October. Consideration of the LNRAP significantly raised awareness of the Plan amongst Councillors and allowed Councillors the opportunity to engage with the development of it and to understand its importance and potential impacts.

## Section 6 Biodiversity Action Plan for Swansea

While the LNRAP is a partnership plan for the whole Swansea area, the Section 6 Biodiversity Action Plan outlines the actions Swansea Council itself will take to meet the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 (Part 1) Section 6 Biodiversity and Resilience of Ecosystems Duty. This requires that: 'A public authority must seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of functions in relation to Wales, and in so doing promote the resilience of ecosystems, so far as consistent with the proper exercise of those functions.' Swansea Council has a legal duty to report to the Welsh Government every three years outlining actions undertaken to comply with the Statutory Biodiversity Duty.

In February 2024, Paul Meller, Natural Environment Section Manager, presented a report which sought approval of the draft Section 6 Biodiversity Duty Action Plan for Swansea (2023-2025), prior to the report going to Council in March 2024.

The draft Section 6 action plan provided the actions the Council proposed to take between now and December 2025 to meet its obligations under its Biodiversity Duty to maintain and enhance biodiversity and contribute to the Welsh Government's 30x 30 targets for nature recovery. These actions are framed by the six key objectives of the Nature Recovery Action Plan for Wales and the Swansea Local Nature Recovery Action Plan.

Committee noted the value of having visible, tangible actions included from a range of departments and was pleased to see evidence of positive collaboration between the Nature Conservation team and the rest of the organisation. It was noted that the ongoing actions are dependent upon staff resources and Welsh Government funding which would currently be provided up to 2025.

The Committee discussed the following: -

- The need to include working with schools to support the delivery of biodiversity and green infrastructure enhancements within school grounds and raise awareness of children and young people of their role in supporting nature recovery. This led to the inclusion of a specific action for enhancing nature recovery initiatives in schools.
- Making Community and Town Councils aware of the report. It was noted that a
  presentation was being made to the Community and Town Councils Forum on
  4 March 2024 and that it was the responsibility of each Council to formulate its
  own plan, but that awareness of Swansea Council's plan could assist them in
  doing that.
- The Council's legal responsibilities in respect of water, soil and air pollution, how it collaborates with other organisations, e.g. Natural Resources Wales (NRW) and how including issues within the plan would hopefully provide more funding towards tackling pollution.
- The positive inclusion of active travel within the plan.
- Providing a more detailed plan linking all the broad actions together which will contribute to achieving Welsh Government's 30 by 30 Target (i.e. 30% of land protected and in positive management by 2030)
- The key importance of nature recovery.
- The importance of its inclusion within the Corporate Plan and collaboration going forward.
- Changing legislation being introduced to strengthen biodiversity regarding the planning process.
- The importance of sustainable drainage.
- The changes being introduced within the replacement Local Development Plan.

The Committee resolved that: -

1) The Draft Section 6 Biodiversity Duty Action Plan for Swansea Council be approved and forwarded to Council for adoption.

2) Adding working with schools to support the delivery of biodiversity and green infrastructure enhancements within school grounds be added to the Plan being reported to Council.

The Section 6 Biodiversity Action Plan was approved by Council in March 2024.

## 4. Sustainable Transport

### Transport for Wales Presentation

In July 2023, the Committee received a presentation from Ben George, Strategic Development Programme Manager, Transport for Wales, relating to the proposals for the Swansea Bay & West Wales Metro. This was to provide regional context for the Committee's work around the Sustainable Transport Strategy for Swansea Council.

Contained within the presentation was information relating to the following areas:

- Rail programme including the South Wales Mainline, West Wales Services & Swansea Bay Area Metro.
- Rail priorities for West Wales and the frequency of services between Port Talbot in the east to Fishguard and Milford in the west on the various different lines;
- Swansea Bay Area Metro rail proposals for stations between Burry Port, Ammanford, Swansea and Neath.
- Bus Programme and reorganisation of routes which aims to reduce duplication and improve service efficiency.
- Aims for better integration with other transport modes by better planning bus services to create a more joined up and co-ordinated network;
- Bus decarbonisation proposals.
- Swansea Bay hydrogen bus project overview and proposed structure.

## Draft Sustainable Transport Strategy

The Committee considered the draft Sustainable Transport Strategy in its meeting in October 2023. Matthew Bowyer, Interim Group Leader Traffic and Network Management, presented the report and sought the views and comments of the Committee on the draft Strategy 2020-2030.

The report detailed the background; national, regional and local policies and strategic context; vision, aims and objectives; and how the Council would deliver.

The accompanying Action Plan provides a roadmap for meeting the key objectives outlined in the strategy. It defined the framework for achieving desired net-zero outcomes by identifying measures and principles that can bring about transport behavioural change at three levels:

• Corporate – Measures and principles that apply Council wide; i.e. across all departments and staff.

- Departmental Measures and principals that each Council department should adopt when developing transport services and infrastructure relevant to their particular function.
- Transport Specific Particular measures and principles to be used by the two Council departments with direct responsibility for transport planning and delivery (i.e. the Highways and Transportation and Central Transport Unit).

When finalised, the Sustainable Transport Strategy would be embedded within the Council Corporate Plan and budget setting process. It would be communicated to all Council staff via the usual channels, including the Council website, social media and staff briefings. Heads of Department, in conjunction with Team Leaders, have the responsibility to deliver the strategy in their department. An annual Council-wide travel survey would also be undertaken to monitor the effectiveness of the implementation of the strategy and used to refine or update the strategy as necessary.

In an informal workshop in January 2024, the Committee considered how the Action Plan could be best implemented. The Committee provided feedback to:

- Help determine and agree timescales and order of priority/sequencing for the actions;
- Help determine appropriate governance and accountability to ensure this agenda is driven forward at pace;
- Inform plans for the development of both public and staff electric vehicle charging infrastructure;
- Consider ways to reduce tyre particulates and their impact on air quality and health, both through education and monitoring the marketplace and other public body activity;
- Inform communications activity for staff to support behaviour change and modal shift;
- Support schools in efforts to reduce emissions from short distance car journeys, such as engaging in Walk to School week
- Align with the Health Travel Charter and identify travel champions across the Council.

The final Sustainable Travel Strategy will be presented to Cabinet shortly.

## 5. Waste

The Committee has spent a great deal of time in this municipal year contributing to the Council's approach to reducing waste and improving recycling, as well as considering service improvements.

In July 2023, Chris Howell, Head of Waste, Parks and Cleansing, presented the background to the current recycling provision in Swansea and the options for reusable containers going forward. This would be a move to sealable hessian sacks for paper and card and a plastic box, complete with carrying handle, for glass and cans.

The authority currently uses up to 10million single use bags a year. Moving to reusable containers offers huge potential to cut single use plastic waste.

The financial implications for the potential move away from single use bags and the operational changes needed were both outlined by officers. The Committee were informed that funding from Welsh Government may be available to assist with the switch.

Members discussed the different types of boxes/bags available, and members of the public were invited to give their perspective, particularly from the viewpoint of older people and disabled people. This has informed the final shape and design of the containers being trialled e.g. having a box with a lid for glass waste to reduce risk from broken glass. The Committee were supportive of the possibility of a trial area being run initially and sought reassurances that additional boxes/sacks would be available for free should the public require them.

The Committee resolved that: -

- 1) the move away from single use bags be fully supported to a new box/sack.
- 2) further investigations be undertaken by officers on the various options available for the new receptacle and a report be brought back to a future meeting of the STC.

In September 2023 the Committee then considered wider future waste strategies.

Implementations of all service improvement actions contained in the current Strategy had meant that the Council achieved a recycling rate of over 70% in 2022/23, two years earlier than required by legislation. In addition to achieving a high level of recycling, the most recent WLGA financial benchmarking from 2021/22 showed that the Council provided the most cost-effective waste management service in Wales (i.e. the lowest net cost per household).

A future waste strategy is being developed to ensure the Council continues to deliver a highly effective and cost-efficient service and also deliver further carbon reductions.

The Committee considered how carbon reductions could be delivered by reductions in residual waste through increased recycling, changes to the power source and/or deployment of collection vehicles, and reductions in the use of plastic recycling bags.

Reductions in residual waste would be achieved by diverting more waste from thermal treatment (energy from waste) into re-use or recycling through an expansion of the number of recycling streams collected at the kerbside. In line with Welsh Government Strategy, the kerbside collection of additional recycling materials, such as plastic film, cartons, and textiles would be trialled to assess for quantities, quality, recycling markets, and sustainability. Vehicle emissions could potentially be reduced by: -

- Introducing seasonal garden collections which would lower the mileage travelled.
- Considering switching to alternative low emissions vehicles (e.g. electric or hydrogen).

The Committee discussed the positive move to add additional recycling materials to kerbside collections, and the service improvements achievable through the pilot of seasonal garden waste collection.

In addition, the Committee discussion raised wider points around how fixed recycling bins for recycling 'on the go' were not a good source of recycling due to contamination, and how a Welsh Government deposit return scheme would encourage the public to return products and therefore reduce waste.

The Committee resolved that: -

- 1) In principle, the Committee be supportive on the potential for future waste strategies to aim for reductions in residual waste, in turn leading to higher recycling rates and the resulting carbon savings.
- 2) In principle, the Committee supports the options to reduce future fuel usage for waste collection vehicles.
- 3) The Committee supports the use of the Reusable Container provided, subject to larger families being supplied with multiple boxes.

## Waste Strategy Update (April 24)

Update yet to be presented.

To note the service team are in discussions over possible participation in a WG led and funding plastic film collection trial planned to start in the Autumn. If chosen as one of the participants in the trial, consideration will also be given to determine whether we could also run trials for the collection of other materials, such as textiles and cartons, at the same time.

## 6. Financial Implications.

6.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report. Any subsequent implications would be set out in individual reports to Cabinet.

## 7. Legal Implications.

7.1 There are no direct legal implications arising out of this report. Any subsequent implications would be set out in individual reports to Cabinet.

## 8. Integrated Assessment Implications.

8.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to:

- Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Acts.
- Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.
- Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not.
- Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socioeconomic disadvantage.
- Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language.
- Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English.
- Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.
- 8.1.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving the 'well-being' goals.
- 8.1.2 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid due regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and priorities, such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, carers, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and Welsh language.
- 8.2 This is a for information report. As such an IIA screening is not required.

Background Papers: None.

Appendices: None.

## Agenda Item 6



## **Report of the Chair**

## Climate Change & Nature Recovery Service Transformation Committee - 15 April 2024

## Work Plan 2023-2024

Date of meeting	Agenda items		
5 June 2023	Work Plan 2023-24 Discussion		
17 July 2023	<ul> <li>The Use of Reusable Containers for Recycling</li> <li>Local Nature Recovery Action Plan overview presentation (PH/PM)</li> <li>TFW presentation (BG)</li> </ul>		
4 September 2023	<ul> <li>LNRAP for Swansea – Report endorsement (PH/PM)</li> <li>Future Waste Strategy – collections, Circular Economy elements (CH)</li> </ul>		
16 October 2023	Sustainable Transport Strategy (SD/MB/CL)		
11 December 2023	• Swansea 2050 and Local Area Energy Plan (GB/JR)		
22 January 2024	<ul> <li>Workshop Session - Sustainable Transport Strategy – next steps (SD/MB/CL)</li> </ul>		
4 March 2024	<ul> <li>Section 6 Biodiversity Duty Action Plan for Swansea. (PH/PM)</li> </ul>		
15 April 2024	<ul> <li>Waste Strategy – Collections update (CH)</li> <li>Annual Report 2023-2024</li> </ul>		